
 
                                                       
                                                     York Town Board Meeting 
                                                              September 12th, 2023 
                                                                       7:00 p.m.    

  
 

Present: Supervisor Gerald Deming, Council Members: Amos Smith, Jason Swede and  
                Norman Gates 
 
Absent: Frank Rose Jr. 
 
Others: Jacob Smith, James Campbell (Town Attorney), John Morgan, Joe Eyer, Henry 
Fuller, Becky Lewis, Kirk Richenberg, Dustin Geiger, George Worden Jr. (Highway 
Supt) and Andrew Walton. 
 
 
Supervisor Deming opened the Town Board Meeting at 7:00 p.m. and invited Jacob 
Smith to lead in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
MINUTES: 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Swede and seconded by Mr. Smith to approve the minutes 
of the August 8th, 2023 Town Board Meeting.  Voted on and approved, Yes-4, No-0. 
 
BILLS:  
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Gates to approve all claims 
brought before the Board.  Voted on and approved, Yes-4, No-0. 
 

•  General Fund # 213-242                                             $ 21,148.71 
 

•  Consolidated Water/Sewer # 176-200                    $51,026.63 
 

•  Highway Fund # 129-143                                           $ 79,121,.71 
 

•  Y-L Youth Fund # 12                                                    $ 9,100.00 
 
 
PRIVILEGES OF THE FLOOR: 
1)Joe Eyer: 
 Mr. Eyer came before the Board this evening to discuss zoning concerns.  Mr. Eyer 
stated down the road from his property a neighbor is running a scrap yard from their 
home.  After speaking with the Zoning Officer, he was told nothing can be done if the 
Town is unable to see the excess from the roadway or stop him from trucking items 
home. 
 
Supervisor Deming stated that he and Mr. Eyer have discussed this situation a number 
of times over the past few months as well as conversations with Mr. Peter, the Code 



Officer.  Mr. Peter indicated we have no jurisdiction on hauling items to the property 
and if the Town cannot view it from the right of way, a violation notice cannot be issued. 
 
Attorney Campbell agreed the Town is limited to what can be done based on what is 
viewed from the road.  As far as what is being hauled on the roadways, we do not have 
jurisdiction for such. 
 
7:03p.m.- Councilman Rose arrived at this time. 
 
Supervisor Deming commented, to date the Town has not received any complaints from 
the neighbors on either side of this property.  Attorney Campbell stated once again, if 
the Code Officer cannot visibly see a violation, we cannot prepare a notice. 
 
Mr. Eyer commented he feels something should be done, this has been going on for 20 
years and stated that there seems to be different rules for people in the Town. 
 
Attorney Campbell replied that there are not different rules on the enforcement aspect, 
we must have evidence (pictures) to show a judge that a violation has taken place. 
 
Mr. Eyer stated that you can see the junk from the street.  Supervisor Deming answered 
from the road you cannot see what they have on the property. Mr. Deming then asked 
Highway Supt. Mr. Worden if he has viewed anything when traveling Cowan Road.  Mr. 
Worden stated that he has not looked at that residence specifically but will do a drive by 
to view. 
 
Supervisor Deming expressed to Mr. Eyer that at this time we do not have an answer for 
him but will speak with Mr. Peter once again to see if a violation can be processed.   
 
Supervisor Deming asked each Board member if anyone has traveled Cowan Road to 
view the parcel we are speaking about?  
 
Councilmen Swede, Gates and Rose all replied they had not. Councilman Smith 
commented that you cannot see anything from the road because of the fence in front but 
he has viewed the parcel from another site and witnessed a great deal of excess.  Mr. 
Smith added after Mr. Eyer contacted him about his concerns, he reached out to Code 
Officer Mr. Peter to discuss further. Mr. Peter informed Councilman Smith that he was 
unable to write a violation due to the fact he could not see anything from the road. 
 
Mr. Eyer stated if he put junk cars on his property, he knows the Town would send a 
violation to him. 
 
Attorney Campbell replied if junk cars & other items are behind a fence out of view, we 
do not have much enforcement to work with.   
 
Mr. Eyer stated he had two cars without plates and had to get rid of them.  Every time he 
does something, his assessment goes up. He understands increases but the neighbor 
down the street is getting away with it. 



 
Supervisor Deming stated we will speak with Mr. Peter once again about the matter and 
asked M. Worden to conduct a drive by as well. 
 
 
2)Jacob Smith: 
Jacob came to discuss with the Board plans for his upcoming Eagle Scout Project.  Jacob 
and his fellow scouts will be constructing a cremation garden at the Pleasant Valley 
Cemetery.  
 
Jacob outlined work that will need to be completed prior to the construction of the 
garden but asked the Town Board if the Town of York might be willing to donated some 
or all gravel needed for the project.  From the calculations made, Jacob anticipates 
roughly 2.35 ton of crushed gravel but if possible 2.5 ton in total, giving them a bit extra 
to be certain. 
 
Highway Supt. Mr. Worden asked if Jacob required the same gravel as is already on site, 
Jacob replied that was not necessary, they are using this material to outline the area in 
and around the cremation garden. 
 
Mr. Worden commented the Highway Department can certainly assist, once approval 
has taken place by the Town Board and recommends crusher run material.  
 
Supervisor Deming asked the Board if they wish to donate, all agreed. 
 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Swede to approve the 
donation of crusher run material and hauling of such to the Pleasant Valley Cemetery 
for Jacob Smith’s Eagle Scout Project to construct a cremation garden.  Voted on and 
approved, Yes-5, No-0. 



                                       

 
 



3)Henry Fuller: 
Mr. Fuller asked to speak with the Board tonight regarding employee testing 
documentation requirements and water billing: 
 
Mr. Fuller stated that people have asked why credit card payments cannot be installed at 
the office. 
 
Clerk Harris commented that Mr. Fuller must have had a conversation with his son, as 
he has inquired previously the same question.  Ms. Harris stated that we have discussed 
pursuing moving forward with credit card payments but have yet to decide which 
company to contract with in order to get the best price at minimal charge to the 
residents.  
 
Mr. Fuller asked if the Town Board ever receives documentation regarding training 
certification for town employees?  
 
Supervisor Deming replied that a Code Enforcement Officer is required to take 6 classes 
of basic training taught by the State to obtain certification and then required to take 24 
hours of continuing education each year to maintain certification. Records are 
submitted to the State annually for verification.  The Assessor is also required to obtain 
yearly certifications through the State as well.  Our Planning and Zoning Board of 
Appeals members are required to obtain 4 hours of training credit yearly, which we keep 
track of. 
 
4)Kirk Richenberg: 
Mr. Richenberg asked to speak tonight regarding government transparency, Highway 
and Water Departments: 
 
Mr. Richenberg noted that the waterline in Piffard is underway, is that welded pipe? 
 
Mr. Worden replied it is fused.  Mr. Richenberg asked if the Town hired a sub-
contractor.  Mr. Worden replied we have, and he is charging us $200.00 per fuse.  
 
Mr. Richenberg questioned if they were qualified and if the Town had any guarantees if 
something should fail, what recourse would we have.  Mr. Worden answered that we 
have hired Morsch Pipeline, who has worked in this community on several projects. 
 
Mr. Richenberg stated that Federal Road was recently paved, will the shoulders be back 
up before winter? 
 
Mr. Worden replied yes, once we get the machinery from Caledonia we can proceed. 
 
Mr. Richenberg asked if we have any criteria yet regarding dispensing of solar funds? 
 
Supervisor Deming commented that we have had several requests and suggestions. 
We have previously used:   $62,000 – on the Town Hall building 
                                                 $76,00 was moved over for the Highway truck 



  
We still have $192, 000 left in ARPA funds and both solar funds have not been touched.  
 
Mr. Richenberg asked if those funds must be approved by the Town Board? 
 
Supervisor Deming answered the funds will be approved by the Board and added some 
money will be used for the Highway roof as well. 
 
 
Mr. Richenberg read aloud the following: 
 

 
 
 



HIGHWAY REPORT: 
Mr. Worden reported the following for the Highway Department: 

• Nova chipped Federal Road from Linwood Rd. to Anderson Rd. 

• Nova chipped Craig Rd. from Federal Rd. to Stewart Rd.  Both roads will 
have additional gravel on the sides shortly 

• Started the waterline in Piffard, with Morsch conducting the fusing of 
pipes.  Some pipe is already in and is going smoothly thus far.  We 
anticipate roughly two weeks to get all pipe in the ground then testing will 
take place, certification and then connection thereafter. 

• Must advertise for an MEO position.  
 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Rose to advertise for the 
Highway Department and Water/Sewer Department.  Voted on and approved, Yes-5, 
No-0. 
 
 
WATER/SEWER REPORT: 
Mr. Worden reported the following for the Water & Sewer Department: 

• The department is currently reading meters for the October billing cycle 
and anticipate completion by the end of the week. 

• We have been changing out parts on many of our lift stations (22) and 
expect to see a difference in our electric bills for efficiency purposes. 

 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
1)Trail Town Report: 
                                 

 
 
 



2)Water shut off Applications: 
 a-2526 Main St. (Stokes) 
 b-2866 Genesee St. (Burdick) 
 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Swede and seconded by Mr. Smith to approve water 
service shut off applications for 2526 Main Street and 2866 Genesee Street.  Voted on 
and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 
 
 
3)Highway Roof: 
Mr. Worden reported that we may need engineering services to properly review what 
will be needed for the Highway roof replacement to make sure we do not have issues 
going forward.   
 
Supervisor Deming stated that we will need to get quotes for engineering services and 
has one already from CPL.  Councilman Rose commented that it will take time for firms 
to come out and review the building to see what is the best option.  Councilman Smith 
stated perhaps we should reach out to MRB as well. 
 
Mr. Worden stated he does not have a preference on whom the Board wants to use as an 
engineering firm as long as we have a durable design that can be constructed quickly. 
 
Councilman Smith expressed the need to get the roof fixed before the winter season 
since it was only patched previously. 
 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Rose to accept the CPL quote 
for engineering services for the Highway Department garage roof replacement in the 
amount of $18,300.00.  Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 
 



 



 
 



 
4)Anderson Road: 
 a) De-obligation of funds 

 



 



 
 
 
 
 



5)Proposed Local Law #5 of 2023: 
Attorney Campbell gave a brief overview of the draft Local Law he prepared for the 
Board providing a partial exemption from Real Property taxes to certain eligible 
volunteer firefighters and volunteer ambulance workers. Mr. Campbell stated the Board 
requested that he prepare this, which would now require the Town Board to conduct a 
Public Hearing on the subject.  
 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Rose and seconded by Mr. Swede to schedule a Public 
Hearing for Tuesday, October 10, 2023 at 6:30 p.m. for the purpose of considering 
public opinion and comment regarding the above Local Law.  Voted on and approved, 
Yes-5, No-0.  
 



 



 
 
 
6)York Road West Waterline: 
Supervisor Deming and Attorney Campbell reported that Woodlawn Land Company has 
made a formal request to the Town Board to dedicate their existing waterline to the 
Town of York.  CPL and Highway Supt. Worden have verified that the line was installed 
per town specifications.  
 
Attorney Campbell read aloud the following resolution: 
 



 



 
 
7)Retsof Sewer District Improvements: 
 a-Advertisement for bids 
 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Swede permission to 
advertise for bids for the Retsof Sewer District Collection System Improvements. Bids 
will be opened on November 7, 2023 at 2:00 pm. 
 



 



 
8)Records Destruction Authorization: 
Clerk Harris prepared a Records Destruction Form for the Board to review per “Records 
and Disposition Schedule for New York Local Government Records (LGS-01) 2020”, 
Revised in 2022. 
 
Upon review of the form…. 
 



RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Rose to approve the Records 
Destruction Authorization Form prepared by Clerk Harris.  Voted on and approved, Yes-
5, No-0. 

 



 

 
 
 
9)Town of York Welcome Signs: 



Supervisor Deming reported that he and Clerk Harris each received an email from a 
town resident addressing the poor condition of our Town of York signs and questioned if 
it was possible to utilize solar funds to upgrade to perhaps composite material. 
 
Supervisor Deming stated that the signs do look quite worn and asked Mr. Worden if 
they could be fixed or should signage be replaced completely.  Mr. Worden replied that 
they can be and have been repaired a few times over the years.  The original material 
was wood and with the newer repairs made, some were done with composite material.  
Supervisor Deming asked Mr. Worden if he could get some pricing.  
 
A digital sign was also discussed for the Town Hall a few years back.  Councilman Smith 
commented that the pricing he obtained at that time was $20,000 but can reach out to 
the same contact person to inquire on current costs.  Supervisor Deming stated we could 
use ARPA funds for this if the price was reasonable. 
 
Mr. Richenberg asked the Board since there was no written documentation from the 
February 21, 2023 Town Board meeting, is there any verbal information that could be 
shared? 
 
Supervisor Deming commented that the Board reviewed several town’s PILOT’s and 
Community Benefit Agreements as it pertained to a dollar amount for wattage.  The 
amount paid to these other towns ranged from $3,500 to $6,000 per megawatt and our 
discussion was where the Town of York would like to be going forward with the White 
Creek Solar Project. We submitted our position which has since been rejected and now 
we are waiting for their counter offer. 
 
Attorney Campbell outlined in Section 94-c, of the Renewable Energy Siting 
Regulations, municipalities have influence when it comes to participation in the process.  
Mr. Campbell commented, in the 2020 Accelerated Renewable Energy Growth and 
Community Benefit Act, they established Executive Law Section 94-c to replace Article 
10 for major renewable projects.  With the Host Community Benefit, participation in a 
PSC program provides a 10-year utility bill discount of $500.00/MW per year to be 
shared amongst residential customers if an agreement is agreed upon between the 
applicant and the host community. This amount would be part of the overall dollars 
provided by the developer as part of the PILOT and Host Community Agreement 
financial allocation. 
 
Attorney Campbell stated at this point we are trying to figure things out for this project 
in order to get the highest monetary benefit for the community.  We hope to obtain final 
numbers soon, so the Town Board can review and firm up details. 
 
Supervisor Deming reported White Creek was at the town hall today to discuss their 
preliminary plans for a Road Use Agreement.  Attorney Campbell stated Highway Supt. 
Mr. Worden was at this meeting and was very helpful in mapping out road 
documentation.   
 



Mr. Fuller suggested reviewing the previous fracking documents regarding Road Use 
Agreement as a guide. 
 
Attorney Campbell commented with these types of solar projects, there will be more 
heavy equipment brought in for preparation and installation purposes. 
 
Supervisor Deming reported, regarding the AKZO money, the Town is still waiting to 
hear back from the Attorney General’s office and DEC on how to spend these funds. 
 
Mr. Fuller asked where the Trail Town Committee put the kiosks? 
 
Ms. Lewis replied that the kiosks are placed by the Yard of Ale restaurant and on 
Fowlerville Road, both on State property. 
 
After no further discussion… 
 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Swede to adjourn the Town 
Board Meeting until October 10th, 2023.   Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0.   
 
Town Board meeting closed at 8:13 p.m. 
 
 
 
                                                                               Respectfully Submitted, 

                                                                               Christine M. Harris  

                                                        Christine M. Harris, Town Clerk 
 


